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THE USE OF ENGLISH

To convey your meaning to the reader you need a good command of English.

Bad English is not only irritating to read, but can also affect the meaning of what you write. In this chapter we start by looking at a few basic terms and constructions. We then look at scientific style and go on to consider grammar, vocabulary, and punctuation. If you are seriously interested in, or worried about your English, buy a good grammar book, usage book and dictionary.

A Few Basic Terms and Constructions

Subject

The subject of a sentence is the person or thing about which the verb expresses something, for example, in the sentence ‘I am alive.’ I is the subject (am is the verb).

The object of a sentence is the person or thing that is acted upon by the verb in the sentence, for example, in the sentence ‘David dropped the hydrochloric acid.’ the hydrochloric acid is the object (David is the subject).
Nouns

These are names of things.

Common nouns, for example, car, house, man, country, chemical, isotope, are names for things in general.

Proper nouns, for example, Boris Karloff, Paris, Edinburgh University, Renault 11, are the names of specific people, places, organisations, or things.

Countable nouns, for example, men, radioisotopes, eggs, are names for things that can be counted. They have plural forms and we can write, for example:

Five men put two radioisotopes in eight eggs.

Uncountable nouns are names for things that cannot be counted, for example, milk, oxygen, genetic engineering, so we write,

Five men put two radioisotopes in dome milk.

Collective nouns (also called compound nouns) are nouns that name a group of people, animals, or things, for example, a flock of sheep, a committee of academics, a group of chemicals.

Adjectives

Adjectives describe nouns, for example, blue and fascinating are both adjectives: ‘the blue cheese’, and ‘the fascinating theory of relational databases’.
Verbs

Verbs are used to express a state of being or an action, for example, ‘I am.’, and ‘The kangaroo hops.’

Transitive verbs require an object and can be either:

active: I ate the cheese.
or passive: The cheese was eaten.
Intransitive verbs do not require an object: Dr Karloff walked to his office.
Auxiliary verbs are used to form a tense or an expression, for example,

‘I am happy.’ ‘She feels sad.’ ‘I have been to Paris.’

Infinitives

An infinitive is a verb with to in the form, to work, to have worked, to be working, etc.
Participles

A present participle is a verb in the -ing form, for example, thinking.

A past participle is a verb in the form, removed, or ran.

Both types of participles can be used as adjectives:

The smiling faces of the children.

Recently appointed Dr Adams started his work on Landifish with blue plummage.

Gerunds

These are verbs in the -ing form, used as nouns, for example, smoking:

Smoking is bad for you.

Active voice

This is when you use verbs in the following form ‘I shot the sheriff’, ‘Dr Karloff is parking his car’
Passive voice

This is when you use verbs in this form, ‘The sheriff was shot ‘, ‘Dr Karloff’s car is being parked’


Person

By person we mean from what point of view you are writing


First person:
I, we, me, us


Second person: 
you


Third person
he, she, it, they, him, her, it, them

Adverbs

Adverbs are used to describe a verb or an adjective, for example,

The charge-transfer complex was broken down completely
The samples were unusually smooth

Prepositions

Prepositions are words like, in, of, next to, etc. which show the relationship between things.

Pronouns


Pronouns are words like, it, they, him, her, etc. which you can use in place of nouns.

Conjunctions 

Conjunctions (and but, therefore, however, or, etc.) are used to join clauses and phrases together.
Tenses

Future simple


The experiment will work. The experiment shall work.
We use this to express things we think or believe will happen.
Future continuous


The experiment will be working…
This is usually used with a time expression for continuous actions before another point in time


The experiment will be working by the time Dr Karloff arrives.
Future perfect


The experiment will have worked…
We use this to talk about things we think or believe will happen by a certain stated time in the future.


The experiment will have worked, by the time I get back:

Present simple


The experiment works.

We use this to talk about habitual actions, universal truths and opinions, and definite arrangements in the future.

Present continuous

The experiment is working.
This is used to express things that are happening now, but not necessarily at the precise moment of speaking. We also use it to talk about definite arrangements in the near future:

I am going to the cinema tonight.

Present perfect

The experiment has worked.

This is used to talk about things that occurred in the near past, and for things that have happened in the past where no time is mentioned, for example:


I have been to France [at some point in my life].

Present perfect continuous

The experiment has been working...

This is normally used with a time expression for an action that started in the past and is still happening.

The experiment has been working since I came back.

Past simple

The experiment worked.

We use this to express things that happened in the past, past habits, etc.
Past continuous

The experiment was working.
We use this for past actions that continued over a period of time It is often used with the past simple to show that something was happening before a certain point in the past.
The experiment was working until Dr Karloff turned off the apparatus

Past perfect

The experiment had worked.
This is used as a past equivalent of the present perfect. It is often used when a time is mentioned.

The experiment had worked by 17:30.

Past perfect continuous

The experiment had been working...

This is the past equivalent of the present perfect continuous and is normally used with a time expression.

The experiment had been working for six hours by the time Dr Karloff noticed he had not removed the sodium crystal.

The imperative

Do not stick your fingers in the machine.

This is used when giving directions and orders.

The first conditional

If the experiment works I will/shall be famous.

This is used for things we consider probable.

The second conditional

If the experiment worked I would be famous.

This is used when we do not expect the thing to actually happen, and when what we are proposing is contrary to the known facts:

If astrophysics was easy, everyone would be studying it.

The third conditional

If the experiment had worked I would/could have been famous.

This is used for things that did not happen because something else did not happen.

Scientific Writing Style

One of the most important skills to learn as a scientist is how to communicate effectively and efficiently. Scientific writing style aims to be clear, precise and accurate. When writing scientific English, keep your prose impersonal because the reader is not interested in you, per se, but in your research. Avoid emotive adjectives because if the research is fascinating, interesting, relevant, or important, you do not need to tell the reader so—it should be self-evident from the text.

Write in a straightforward style that presents only what you need to say. Keep the words to a minimum and remove any that are not necessary, but make sure the text is easy to read and flows. If you get stuck, try pretending that you are telling a friend what you have done; use a normal conversational style and then change this into formal scientific writing.

Bear in mind that your paper is a serious scientific document, but do not try to force your writing into a style that feels uncomfortable or unnatural. Do not be tempted into using long impressive sounding words in an effort to make the writing sound more important and scientific. Quantity is no substitute for quality. Pompous English is boring, pretentious, and dull, and if the words are used catachrestically (improperly) it looks silly as well. Avoid slang and other colloquialisms.
Which voice and person to use

One of the first things you will have to decide is which voice (active or passive) and person (first, second, or third) to use. Many people think that they have to use the third person passive to sound scientific:

It was found...

rather than the first person active:

I/We found...

The passive is used when we do not know or do not need to know who or what carried out the action, which is the case with a lot of science; however, the passive can become very wordy and pompous if used to excess, and there is no reason to conceal the fact that it was actually you who did your research. Our advice is to use the active as much as possible. Compare the following:

Third person passive: The digests were continued for a further 5 hours...
First person active: I continued the digests for a further 5 hours…
Third person active: Digestion continued for a further 5 hours…
The third person active is shorter, more direct and easier to read. Whilst the third person passive is quite acceptable when writing about what you did:

The blue mice were placed in the maze.


Try to avoid it when you are talking about what other people or things did.

If you compare these two sentences:

The maze was successfully traversed by the blue mice. (passive)

The blue mice successfully traversed the maze. (active)

Again, the active sentence does the job just as well and more efficiently.

Which tense to use

You will use a range of tenses depending on what you are writing about. It is best to use past tenses, on the whole, when talking about what you did, but beware of confusing the use of the present simple and the past simple, because this will affect the meaning of your sentence. Amongst other things the present simple is used to express habitual actions, ‘Tim cleans his instruments every morning’, universal truths, ‘Water boils at 100°C.’, and universal opinions, ‘£100 is better than a slap in the face with a wet fish.’ The simple past is used to say what happened in the past: use it for things that you did, ‘I put the chemicals in the refrigerator’, observations you made, ‘A shiny deposit of an unknown material appeared on my bread.’, and specific rather than general conclusions you came to, ‘I concluded that I should not eat the bread’
Sometimes, it does not matter which tense you use, for example, in your Materials and Methods you could write either ‘5 ml water are added’ or ‘5 ml water were added’. In the first sentence you would mean, ‘in the procedure 5 ml of water are always added’. In the second sentence you would mean, ‘I added 5 ml of water when I did it’. If you are writing about the result of your experiment, be more careful, for example, ‘5 g gold are precipitated’ means that it always is, ‘5 g gold were precipitated’ means that it was in your experiment.

Comprehensibility

The following sentence, from a BSc thesis, is very hard to understand:

The pouring of the gel was immediate as the tendency to set was great.

This probably means:

The gel was poured immediately because it sets quickly.

Definitions

If there is any ambiguity or controversy about any of the words, phrases, or ideas you are using, define your terms so the reader knows how you are using them.

Directly addressing the reader

Your paper is a formal document so avoid phrases like ‘You can see the progression in Figure 3.6.’ If you have to address the reader, you could use either we ‘We can see the progression in Figure 3.6.’, or if you feel the need to be more formal, one ‘One can see the progression in Figure 3.6.’ However, it is far better, in a formal document, to avoid addressing the reader directly and to use the third person passive, ‘The progression can be seen in Figure 3.6.’
Distinguishing between fact and opinion

If you are sure of a point in your argument, do not deflate its power by introducing it with phrases like ‘In my opinion...’, or ‘It is possible that...’
But if you are dealing with points that you are less sure of, or which are just suppositions, let the reader know this—here phrases like ‘It is possible that...’ are appropriate

Headings and titles

Choose short self-explanatory headings and titles to separate the different sections of your paper.

Latin names for organisms

Many scientific words are derived from Latin or Greek. They usually do not have an s in the end if they are plural, for example, data, bacteria.

Non-English words are often italicised (see Italics section, below). Remember that Latin names for organisms are normally italicised. The genus name is capitalised and the species name is not, for example, Caenorhabditis elegans or Mus musculus.
Laws
Write the names of laws in lower case, for example, the first law of para-psychology unless the Iaws contain a person’s name, for example

Karloff’s law.

SI Units

SI Units (Système International d’Unités) are the internationally standardised units of measurement Use them in the correct abbreviated form and only capitalise them if they are normally capitalised. Whether you put a space between the number and the unit is up to you (5kg, or 5 kg) but be consistent.
Numbers

In discursive scientific text, such as your Introduction or Discussion, it is normal to write out numbers from one to ten, for example, two mice, nine peaches. Fractions of two words can also be written, for example, five-tenths of a Mars bar. Larger numbers and fractions, or those written in methods and protocols, and attached to units (such as 28 g or 54 A) are shown as numerals. If you have two numbers together in a sentence, it is normal to write one of them in words, for example, 
seven 5mm 0-rings, fifty-eight 70 years olds.

It is normal to write numbers in titles, unless it would be very unwieldy: 

The Four Fosters

The Seventy Samurai

The Twenty-Five Favourite Sayings of Dr Karloff

The 3,599 Dalmatians

As far as possible in the discursive sections of your text, such as the Introduction and Discussion, do not start a sentence with a numeral: 


2 theories explain the phenomenon of Moog Genesis.

It is better written:


Two theories explain the phenomenon of Moog Genesis

If you are numbering points in your text, put them in brackets. Roman or Arabic numerals are equally acceptable, providing you are consistent:

There are a number of things to take into consideration when deciding on the verdict (1) the sausages were very tasty, (2) the sausages were left out on the kitchen table, (3) the defendant is a dog and cannot be held to be responsible for his actions.

There are a number of things to take in to consideration when deciding on the verdict (I) the sausages were very tasty, (II) the sausages were left out on the kitchen table, (III) the defendant is a dog and cannot be held to be responsible for his actions.

If you are writing out a series of numbers with units, for example, a series of measurements, avoid something like this:

12m, 13m, 14m, 17m...

It is much simpler to write them thus:

12, 13, 14, 17m

If you wish to show a span, such as 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17m, use an n-dash (see the section on punctuation):

12—17m

or write

12 to 17m.

A colon is used between numbers in proportions, for example, 5:1.

Times of the day, days of the week, months and years

Times of the day should .be written using the 24-hour clock, 22:13, rather than 10:13 pm. Days of the week are capitalised, for example Wednesday, not wednesday, and can be abbreviated without a full stop, Wed, for example.

Months are capitalised, September not september, and can be abbreviated without a full stop; Sept, for example. Seasons, for example, summer, are not capitalised. Write years as numerals, 1998, not in full, nineteen hundred and ninety-eight.

Referring to people
When writing about people avoid making generalisations that might cause offence. If you write ‘When a nuclear physicist considers this problem he will come to a different conclusion to that of a marine biologist’. It should not need saying, but if it has to be said, you are making an unscientific assumption that the nuclear physicist is male. This is likely to cause offence, and, apart from anything else, if your examiner is a woman you do not want to irritate her. You could get round the problem by writing he/she but this looks terrible. As much as possible avoid constructions where you are forced to specify a gender unless you know what the gender actually is. A simple way round the problem is to use the term ‘they’ to mean ‘he/she’; this is an old construction not much seen in current English, but we think it is useful, “When nuclear physicists consider this problem they will come to different conclusions from marine biologists.’

Deflating your argument

Keep an eye out for constructions that deflate your argument. For example, if you use definitely too much you will imply that other points in your argument are not definite. If you write something like ‘Personally, I think...’ you imply that other people would disagree with you. Of course if you are stating a personal opinion you should say so.

It is best to start a sentence strongly and then modify it as necessary rather than starting with a long qualification:

The result looks promising, although full analysis of the samples has not yet been done, and there is some contamination of samples, 3, 7, and 15.

Although full analysis of the samples has not yet been done, and there is some contamination of samples, 3, 7, and 15, the result looks promising.

The second sentence is much less positive than the first and emphasizes the qualifications, rather than that the results look promising.

Using nouns as adjectives

Nouns used as adjectives often have a clumsy feel: apparatus construction; although using fewer words than construction of apparatus feels ungainly and can be hard to read. This is not to say that nouns should never be used as adjectives, phrases such as, hydrogen bond, and SI units, are fine, but try to avoid writing things like maximum permissible dose administration, or vegetative propagation measurement, when you could write administration of the maximum permissible dose, and measurement of vegetative propagation.

Colloquialisms and contractions

Colloquialisms are words or patterns of speech that are used in everyday spoken English. Colloquialisms can easily lead to ambiguity, particularly if your text is being read by a scientist who works in a slightly different field or for whom English is a second language. For example, we recently saw the following in a dissertation:

…the hot DNA probe was hybridised to the filters.

By ‘hot’ the writer meant radioactive, but there is no reason why the reader should know this. Be especially wary of using colloquial versions of standard abbreviations, such as referring to methanol as MeOH, as biologists do in the laboratory; rather than the standard abbreviation, CH3OH.

Contractions such as, it’s, there’s, I’ve, lab (it is, there are, I have, laboratory) are colloquialisms which can very easily slip into your text. They should not be there, so run checks for them using the ‘find and replace command on your word processor.

Jargon

Depending on your point of view, jargon is meaningless gibberish, or the specialised language of a particular field. Use specialised terms that will be understood by your readers; but make sure you use them correctly, and that they are widely known and accepted.

Misuse of words

Be careful of everyday words that have a particular scientific usage, for example, force, energy, inertia. Use these words only in their precise scientific meaning. Parameter and variable, for example, are sometimes confused. Parameter means a constant that does not vary, as opposed to variables, which do vary. Remember that a datum is something given or assumed as a fact rather than preliminary results or findings— data are things given or assumed as facts. Also remember that constantly does not mean often, and that efficient does not mean effective, neither do varying, variable, varied, and various mean the same thing.

Words with similar meanings or spellings are often confused, for example, to accept is to receive willingly, to except is to exclude or make an exception; proceed means to go ahead with, precede means to go before. Both are spelt correctly and neither will be picked up by a spell-checker. If you are using a word with alternative spellings, for example extractable, extractible make sure you are consistent. We have listed other problem words in Appendix 1: Easily confused words.

Typing mistakes can also lead to the wrong word being used. A spell-checker will pick up combinations of letters that do not form any word that it knows of. It is easy to slightly mistype a word and produce something you did not intend to, particularly words that are anagrams of each other, for example, sorted and stored. Make sure your text is properly proofread before handing it in.

Vagueness

Your examiners need to know exactly what you did and what you think. Chatting in the lab or over breakfast you might say things like ‘The reaction was very quick.’ If someone needs to know exactly how quick it was they can ask you. In your paper ‘The reaction was very quick’ is irritatingly vague. Quick is a subjective idea, as is very. Is quick nanosecond, or a few hours? Equally irritating are phrases like:

…less DNA was used.

How much is less DNA?

Having dried sufficiently...

What does this mean?

An appropriate volume...
What is an appropriate volume? Also be careful about making imprecise comparisons, for example:

The mauve mouse is heavier than the blue mouse.

Subjective adjectives and adjectival phrases like these should be banished from your text. It is a good idea to run checks for them while you are word processing.
Wordiness

There are some words and phrases that always tend towards wordiness. Alarm bells should start ringing if you catch yourself writing things like:
The use of gamma thobalot improved the patients’ symptoms.

The utilisation of gamma thobalot improved the patients’ symptoms.

In both cases it would be more efficient to write:

Gamma thobalot improved the patients’ symptoms.

It is best, on the whole, to use plain rather than fancy words, for example, start, or begin, rather than commence; attempt or try rather than endeavour or essay.


Here are a few of the more common words with their less wordy alternatives:

*…boiled on a heating block so as to denature the protein.

…boiled on a heating block to denature the protein.

*Washing of filters.

Filter Washing.

*…the columns were left sitting for 2 minutes.

…the Columns were left for 2 minutes.

*The process of DNA preparation involves...

DNA preparation involves…
That can also lead to wordiness. It is used far more often than is necessary, for example, in the sentence:

*There are three things that this depends on...

that is not necessary. You could just write:

There are three things this depends on...

Keep an eye out for tautologies -using more than one word to express the same idea in the same sentence or phrase (for example, repeat.., again; basic essentials). The following sentence contains a tautology:

The reason my experiment failed is because I forgot to turn on the apparatus.

‘The reason’ and ‘because’ are both doing the same job; write either:


The reason my experiment failed is I forgot to turn on the apparatus
Or, more succinctly:


My experiment failed because I forgot to turn on the apparatus.

You need to be precise and accurate in your choice of words. If there is an appropriate scientific term, use it.


Use distinctions and definitions where they are needed to avoid confusion, but try not to make them unnecessarily. We have bracketed the unnecessary distinction and definition in the passage below:

The Yellow Wagtail is a British sub-species of the Continental Blue-headed Wagtail. It is a summer visitor [and migratory bird of passage], mainly found in pastures [rather than woodlands, marshes, or mountains].
Prepositions

Avoid unnecessary prepositions, such as ‘The thesis will be printed out’ rather than ‘The thesis will be printed’.

Scientific writing often omits prepositions when describing methods or results; so we would write ’10g CuSO4’ rather than ‘10 grams of copper sulphate’. We would also write ‘5ml water were added rather’ than ‘5ml of water were added’, or ‘10nm diameter’, rather than ‘10nm in diameter’.

Read published papers and learn to use the conventions of your field so that you can produce a professional looking paper.

Repeating words
Unless you are consciously doing so to stress or make a point, it is best not to use a word too many times in the same paragraph or sentence. It will not affect the meaning of your text, but it is tedious to read. Buy yourself a thesaurus—you might have one as part of your word processing program,

If you find yourself using the same word again and again, have a look in your thesaurus for an alternative. Before you use an alternative, check what it means. It might only have a similar meaning, which may distort what you are trying to say, or just sound odd:


…While you should use distinctions and definitions where they are needed to avoid confusion, you should snub unnecessary distinctions and definitions.

American English and British English

Be aware of the differences between American and British English, most of which are to do with spelling, for example, grey, utilise, and honour are standard spellings in British English, bit gray, utilize, and honor are standard spellings in American English. You could use either spelling system providing you are consistent. If you are studying at a British university it is sensible to use British English. Make sure your spell-checker is set appropriately.

Planning Your Writing

Just as you should plan the grand sweep of your argument it is a good idea to plan how to present your information, from paragraph to paragraph, and from sentence to sentence. Make sure your ideas flow rationally and understandably from one sentence to another and from one paragraph to another.

Planning your paragraphs

The structure of your paragraphs should mirror that of your whole text. They should have a beginning, a middle, and an end. Restrict each paragraph to one main idea, which you should give to the reader in your ‘topic sentence’. The topic sentence will usually come at the beginning of the paragraph and tells the reader what the paragraph will be about. Keep this topic sentence in mind as you write the rest of your paragraph to ensure that the paragraph is coherent within itself. Each sentence should flow logically on from the previous sentence to build your argument towards the end point of your paragraph. If you find you need to include ideas which are not covered by your opening topic, either widen your topic to encompass them, or put these ideas into another paragraph.

When planning how to write a chapter or section, list the topics and arrange them into a rational order. Once you have the topics in order, you have the backbone of your writing in place. You can now go through this outline noting down the points you wish to discuss under each topic. These will form the core of your sentences. Make sure that your sentences build rationally to a main point at the end of each paragraph.

Make sure your writing flows

You might find that the sentences in your paragraph, although all connected to the topic sentence, seem to jump about rather jerkily from idea to idea. You can use transitional words and phrases like therefore, in particular, but, although, since, because, etc. to lubricate the changes and show the reader where your argument is going.

If you find that, while they work well in themselves, your paragraphs do not seem to fit very well together, a useful trick is to simply repeat word or idea from the conclusion of the previous paragraph as an introduction to the next one to show the transition, for example:

When the pistons move up and down the connecting rods make the offset crank pins rotate, thus causing the crankshaft itself to rotate. We see therefore that crankshafts are an essential component in the piston engine.

Another interesting component of the piston engine is the piston itself...

Dealing with awkward points and comparisons

Deal with counter-arguments and alternative interpretations immediately. You do not want to give them a chance to take hold and distract the reader’s mind from your argument. With more complicated counter-arguments, you should break them down and deal with them point by point. If you just lay out a counter-argument in full followed by your refutation of it, the reader will find it hard to follow and possibly lose track of what you are saying. Similarly, if you are comparing one quite complicated idea or process with another, it is a lot easier to grasp the comparison if you run the comparisons side by side, point by point.
Plagiarism

Never copy anything from papers or other people’s work without fully acknowledging and referencing it. Students are failed for plagiarism.

Grammar
Just about everybody makes slips in grammar when they are talking. This is normal and forgivable. However, when it comes to the written word, particularly in a formal document, we expect precision and correctness. Bad grammar is not only irritating to read:

The physicists, what play the piano, is in the next room.

it can also affect the meaning of what you write:

The dashing young cosmologist Dr Anderson ate an apple roller-blading in Hyde Park.

Here it is unclear who was roller-blading, the dashing young Dr Anderson, or the apple. Better construction would clarify the meaning of this sentence.

The dashing young cosmologist Dr Anderson ate an apple while roller-blading in Hyde Park.

In writing, unlike speech, you have time to revise and consider what you are saying, make use of this time.

Sentences

A sentence should contain at least one subject and predicate. The subject is the person, people, thing, or things the sentence is about. The predicate is something that is said about the subject. In the following sentence:

I want to go to sleep.

I is the subject and want to go to sleep is the predicate. In the next sentence:
John, Glenn, Tony and Lizzy are researching the effect of carbon monoxide on children’s health, in Glasgow.

John, Glenn, Tony and Lizzy is a ‘compound subject’, are researching the effect of carbon monoxide on children’s health in Glasgow is the predicate. Both of these sentences are simple sentences. A compound sentence is made of two or more simple sentences, for example:

I want to go to sleep, but I have to stay awake.

Complex sentences are made by taking one sentence as a main clause, and adding other sentences in the form of subordinate clauses, for example:
I want to go to sleep, because I am tired, but I have to stay awake.

because lam tired is the subordinate clause.

Sentence length

There are no rules as to how long a sentence should be. Short sentences tend to emphasise a point, but if you always write in short basic sentences your style will come across as abrupt and jerky and you will often have to repeat words and information in order to make your sentences grammatically correct. On the other hand, the longer a sentence is, the harder it can be to follow the meaning unless it is well punctuated---and the easier it is to write a bad sentence. If your sentence is longer than three or four lines, it is probably too long.

Relative clauses

Relative clauses are made using the relative pronouns, who, which, that, etc. There are three kinds of relative clauses, defining (or restrictive) relative clauses, non-defining (or non-restrictive) relative clauses, and connective relative clauses.

 Defining relative clauses

These are used to define the thing we are talking about. For example, in the sentence:

I put the adults which I had covered with yeast extract in a test tube.

which I had covered with yeast extract is a defining relative clause. It tells the reader which adults we are talking about. With defining relative clauses we do not use commas and can use the following relative pronouns:

For people:

Subject

We use who (that can be used after all, everyone, everybody, no one, nobody, and those):

The woman who arrived yesterday is an engineer.

Object

That is normally used, although whom is used in formal English.


Who can also be used:

The man that/whom/who I saw is a geologist.

Possessive


Whose:


The woman whose car is being towed is an astrophysicist.

For things:
Subject

We use which (formal) and that:

The book that fell on my foot is heavy.
Object
We can use either which or that:

The book which I dropped on my foot is heavy.

Possessive

Whose, or of which (formal):

The book whose dust jacket I tore is my own.

With defining relative clauses we do not have to use relative pronouns, and could just write:

The man I saw is a geologist.

You can also replace the relative clause with an infinitive in certain situations:

After the first, the second... the last, etc:

The last experiment that was done

The last experiment to be done

and when you are talking about purpose or permission:

I have a lot of experiments that I have to do

I have a lot of experiments to do.

Dr Karloff told me that I had to be here by eight o’clock to take part in the Moog Genesis experiment.

Dr Karloff told me to be here by eight o’clock to take part in the Moog Genesis experiment.

You can replace the relative clause with a present participle when you are talking about: continuous or habitual actions, desires, knowledge, or thought:

The lens which moves on the axis...

The lens moving on the axis...

The notice which warns people against touching the apparatus had been removed by Dr Karloff.

The notice warning people against touching the apparatus had been removed by Dr Karloff.

Non-defining relative clauses

In non-defining relative clauses, for example:

I put the adults, which I had covered with yeast extract, in a test tube.

we are simply given the reader more information about the thing we are talking about. The clause is put within ‘parenthetic commas’— if the clause is removed, the sentence should still be understandable. With non-defining relative clauses we have to use commas and use the following relative pronouns:

For people:

Subject

We use who:

 
The woman, who arrived yesterday, is an engineer.

Object

Whom is formal, who is less formal:

The man, whom/who I saw, is a geologist.

Possessive

Whose:

The woman, whose car is being towed, is an astrophysicist.

For things:

Subject

We use which:

The book, which fell on my foot, is heavy.

Object

We use which:

The book, which I dropped on my foot, is heavy.

Possessive

Whose, or of which (formal):

The book, whose dust jacket I tore, is my own.

With non-defining relative clauses you must use both commas and relative pronouns. If we compare the following sentences:
The chloride samples, which I left in my office, were ruined.

The chloride samples which I left in my office were ruined.

In the first sentence (with a non-defining clause) all the chloride samples were left in the office and ruined. In the second sentence (a defining relative clause) only those chloride samples which were left in the office were ruined, the other chloride samples were not left in the office and were not ruined.

You can replace the relative clause with a present participle when you are talking about: continuous or habitual actions:

The lens, which moves on the axis, has developed a crack.

The lens, moving on the axis, has developed a crack.

and when you are writing about expressions of desire, knowledge or thought:

Dr Karloff who wanted to be alone, left the room.

Dr Karloff wanting to be alone, left the room.

Dr Karloff, who knew he was being followed, leapt into the alleyway.

Dr Karloff, knowing he was being followed, leapt into the alleyway.

Dr Karloff, who thinks he has been treated badly, has been waging a vendetta against the University establishment.

Dr Karloff, thinking he has been treated badly, has been waging a vendetta against the University establishment.

Connective relative clauses

These are very similar to non-defining relative clauses, and are used to carry on a story:
-


Dr Karloff hit the Dutchman. The Dutchman fell to the ground.

can be combined:


Dr Karloff hit the Dutchman, who fell to the ground.

who fell to the ground is a connective relative clause. As with non-defining relative clauses they are indicated by commas and you must use a relative pronoun. If you write:

Dr Karloff hit the Dutchman who fell to the ground.

you mean Dr Karloff hit the Dutchman who had already fallen to the ground who fell to the ground becomes a defining relative clause. We use the same relative pronouns as for non-defining relative clauses:

For people:

Subject

We use who
Object

Use whom (formal), or who.

For things:

Subject

We use which.

Object

We use which.

Common problems

a) Unnecessary changes of tense or voice in mid-sentence

At times you will have to change tenses in the same sentence to get the correct meaning across, for example:

By the time the apparatus was set up, the chemicals had been prepared and were ready for use.

Here we shift from past to past perfect, which is quite normal. But avoid shifting tenses if it is illogical, or unnecessary:

The purple mouse goes through the maze and learnt that there was a piece of cheese at the end.

[image: image1.png]



   Fig.1.1 The purple mouse goes through the maze and learns that the cheese has gone.

We have shifted from the present to the past tense which makes a nonsense of the sentence. 

As I continued with the experiment, the formation of gold deposits was observed. 

Here we have shifted from the active to the passive for no good reason.

b)  Verbs and subjects that do not agree

You have to make sure that the verb you are using is in the right form, or ‘agrees with’, the subject:


*Careful consideration of all the examples are needed. 
‘are’ does not agree with ‘consideration’. This should be written:


Careful consideration of all the examples is needed.

In the following sentence were does not agree with the purple mouse:
*The purple mouse, along with the orange mouse, the red mouse, and the blue mouse, were accidentally released into the wild.

This should be written:

The purple mouse, along with the orange mouse, the red mouse, and the blue mouse, was accidentally released into the wild.

In British English, collective nouns like committee, group, class, can be treated as either singular or plural:

The committee was dismissed.

The committee were dismissed.

American English normally treats them as singular.

Each, either neither anyone, anything, everyone, everything, no one, nothing, everybody, nobody are all singular so:

*Each of the experiments succeeded in their objective.

is wrong—each is singular, their is plural. The sentence should read:

Each of the experiments succeeded in its objective.

If you are comparing a singular with a plural, the verb will match the one it is closest to:

Either the apparatus or the students are at fault.

Either the students or the apparatus is at fault.

People often have problems with the word data, which is not a collective noun, although it is often wrongly treated as one in everyday speech. Datum is singular. Data is plural. Write, for example, the data are..., the data show..., the data were analysed..., rather than the data is..., the data shows..., the data was analysed... Similarly, media is plural and medium is singular, phenomena is plural and phenomenon is singular.
c) Using the wrong pronoun
*Cindy and myself carried out the experiments.

You would not write myself carried out the experiments. The sentence should read:

Cindy and I carried out the experiments.

Here is another example:

*The police are accusing Dr Karloff and I of masterminding the Tokyo Affair.

accusing I? Write:

The police are accusing Dr Karloff and me of masterminding the Tokyo Affair.

d) Not completing comparisons

*The blue mouse is larger.

than what? You have to complete the comparison:

The blue mouse is larger than an elephant.

Also ensure your comparisons make sense, in the sentence:

*The gauze absorbs more water than paper.

It seems as if you are saying that the gauze absorbs some paper but a lot more water. It would be clearer to write:

 
The gauze absorbs more water than the paper does.

e) Dangling participles

These are also known as hanging, unattached, and misrelated participles. If they dangle they do not agree with anything, or agree with the wrong subject. This does not normally cause misunderstanding but it can at times, and it is always jarring. For example, if someone was writing about an experiment they did using orange mice:

While conducting the experiment the orange mouse became confused.
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Fig. 1.2 While conducting the experiment the orange mouse became confused.

This means the orange mouse was conducting the experiment. The participle ‘conducting’ has to agree with a subject. Here the only subject in the sentence is the orange mouse. It would be better to write something like:

While I was conducting the experiment, the orange mouse became confused.

There are a number of participles that are allowed to dangle free, as it were, for example, assuming, considering, excepting, providing, supposing.

Strictly speaking we should write:

Considering the recent crisis in the Computing Department, we think Dr Lugosi should resign.

Due to many centuries of usage it is not considered necessary and we can just write:

Considering the recent crisis in the Computing Department, Dr Lugosi should resign.

f) The split infinitive

The split infinitive is one of the great shibboleths of English. An infinitive is a verb in the form, to-, for example, to go. To split the infinitive is to put an adverb (a word that describes a verb, such as boldly) between the to and the verb, for example, to boldly go rather than the more orthodox to go boldly. Some people say that to split an infinitive is a sin; others are more relaxed about it (including the Oxford English Dictionary). Whatever your views about split infinitives, be careful about using them in your paper. They are more acceptable in spoken than written English. 

g) Where to put prepositions

In formal English we put the preposition before the noun or pronoun, 

At what are you looking?

The girl with whom I am in love.

In informal English the preposition moves to the end of the sentence,

What are you looking at?

The girl I am in love with.

As your paper is a formal document it is best to stick to formal English as much as possible. With phrasal verbs, such as ‘looking after’, you cannot put the preposition before the noun or pronoun, *‘After the experiment which I was looking’, because the sentence then makes no sense, so the preposition has to go afterwards, ‘The experiment I was looking after’.

Punctuation

Punctuation can be compared to the stresses, gestures, intonations and pauses that we use in spoken English to make ourselves understood. One usually does not notice good punctuation, but bad punctuation jars and interrupts the flow of your text. It can also affect the meaning of a sentence. Punctuation should be used to make it perfectly clear to the reader the meaning and sense of the writing and to guide them through it with the minimum possibility of ambiguity. It would be comforting to think that punctuation is governed by a few simple and logical rules. It is not. Punctuation is governed by rules, conventions, and taste in roughly equal measures. There is sometimes little logic to it. Generally; the shorter and simpler you make your sentences, the fewer problems you will have with punctuation.

Paragraphs

A lot of people are not quite sure exactly what a paragraph is—or should be. The word paragraph comes from the Greek para (a sheet of handwriting) and graphos (mark). Originally it was merely a mark in a text to indicate to the reader that they had reached a pause or change of tack in the argument, much as a full stop is there to indicate the end of a sentence. If you play around with your word processor you can see these marks on your screen ¶.

There are no rules as to how long a paragraph should be. It depends on the rhythm of your argument and on what looks good on the page. Newspaper paragraphs tend to be short and punchy, which gives a sense of energy and looks readable in the columns. In your paper you do not want quite such a frenetic rhythm. Your text would read like a runaway pace. A short paragraph tends to emphasise the point you are putting across. The pause between paragraphs gives the reader the chance to reflect on and be amazed by your insight. As a general guide, if you are writing in double-spaced type and your paragraph is longer than a side of paper, it is too long. A full page of unbroken text is a daunting sight. The reader is likely to lose the flow of your argument as they wonder where the next break comes.

Punctuation marks

Sometimes punctuation marks affect the meaning of a sentence, sometimes they help the flow of your text, and sometimes they just litter the page like mouse droppings on a shiny new floor. Use the minimum punctuation marks necessary to make your meaning absolutely clear.

Perhaps surprisingly, there are no rules as to how many spaces to leave after punctuation marks. It is conventional to leave a single space after most of them, and two spaces after a full stop to indicate a new sentence.

a) The comma

The comma is possibly the most misused of punctuation marks. Sometimes the use of a comma will change the meaning of your sentence, sometimes it will affect the precise shade of meaning, at other times it is a matter of taste. Used well, commas make it absolutely clear what you mean and give your writing a good rhythm. But, if they are overused or used incorrectly they can make your text look fussy and can cause confusion. We use commas in the following ways:

Commas and conjunctions

Conjunctions are words like, and, but, therefore, so, used to join clauses together. If you use a comma there is a break between the ideas and the sense of the sentence changes:


Dr Karloff has gone to Amsterdam or Upminster.


Dr Karloff has gone to Amsterdam, or Upminster.

In the first sentence it is equally likely that Dr Karloff went to either place. In the second sentence or Upminster is an afterthought we do not think as likely as the first possibility. It is more common, but not necessary, to use a comma with conjunctions that indicate a break between ideas:

The monster was dead and it did not move when Dr Karloff touched it.

The monster was dead, but it moved when Dr Karloff touched it.

You cannot put a comma between two sentences without using a conjunction, for example:

*Dr Karloff has disappeared, he was last seen catching a taxi to Heathrow airport.

The sentence should read:

Dr Karloff has disappeared and he was last seen catching a taxi to Heathrow airport.

or,

 Dr Karloff has disappeared, and he was last seen catching a taxi to Heathrow airport.

Commas are also used to avoid ambiguities, for example, however has more than one meaning. However can mean either nevertheless or in whatever way. You have to be very careful about where you put your commas as it can change the meaning of your sentence:

Dr Karloff went to the hotel in Berkeley Square; however Sergeant Piddock was waiting for him.

Here however means in what ever way (sitting in the room, hiding in a tree, disguised as a penguin, etc. which does not make sense). In the following sentence:

Dr Karloff went to the hotel in Berkeley Square; however, Sergeant Piddock was waiting for him.

However means nevertheless. You need the comma after however to make your meaning clear. the word still has similar problems. Still can mean not moving, nevertheless, or it is used to indicate that something is continuing:

Still I found-the exercise useful. 

Without a comma this either means that you were still whilst finding it useful, or that you continued to find it useful.

Still, I found the exercise useful.

Here still means ‘Nevertheless, I found the exercise useful.’ There are other times when a comma is needed to get the right meaning across:


I turned and examined the samples.


I turned, and examined the samples.

In the first sentence the samples were turned and examined. In the second sentence you turned and the samples were examined. The commas shows us that turned agrees with (goes with) I. keep an eye out for ambiguities like this.

Commas with a list or series of phrases

You can use commas to separate the items in a list or a series of phrases:

I went to the market and I bought a fat hen, a haddock, an overcoat, a lithograph of the Eiffel Tower.

You could use an and before the final item in the list to soften the feel a bit:

I went to the market and I bought a fat hen, a haddock, an overcoat, and a lithograph of the Eiffel Tower.

People disagree about whether or not to use a comma before the final and, but it is safer to use one to avoid ambiguities like:

I went shopping at Harrods, W. H. Smith, Woolworths, Boots and Marks and Spencers.

You can use commas to separate a series of phrases in the same way:

In this dissertation I intend to investigate the relationship between air pollution and landfish population, the relationship between water borne pollution and landfish size, and the relationship between stress and abnormal reproductive behaviour in landfish.

Commas with introductory or inserted words and phrases

Often a comma is not strictly needed, but makes the meaning easier to follow by putting the word or phrase in parenthesis:

Finally, we realised we had failed to turn on the centrifuge.

If there is a possibility of an ambiguity however slight, use a comma to make your meaning clear:

Whatever the position of the apparatus I found the rain in Spain fell mainly on the plain.

Here it is possible that you are writing about a piece of apparatus that you found.

Whatever the position of the apparatus, I found the rain in Spain fell mainly on the plain.

makes the situation clear.

Commas and relative clauses

We use commas with non-defining relative clauses (see the grammar section):

The blue mouse, which is very intelligent, has escaped and is believed to be responsible for the recent power cut.

and connective relative clauses;

The blue mouse, which is very intelligent, has escaped and is believed to be responsible for the recent power cut, which has thrown the university into chaos.

but not defining relative clauses:

The blue mouse which is very intelligent has escaped and is believed to be responsible for the recent power cut.

Commas with if clauses and when clauses

In a sentence like:

You will be ill if Dr Karloff puts the chemical in your tea.

or,

She was ill when Dr Karloff put the chemical in her tea.

we do not need a comma, although It can be useful to use commas to guide the reader through a particularly long and complicated sentence. It is, however, common (not necessary) to use a comma when the if or when clause comes first:

If Dr Karloff puts the chemical in your tea, you will be ill.

When Dr Karloff put the chemical in her tea, she was ill.

Inserting words, phrases or clauses into sentences

If you are inserting a clause, phrase or word into the middle of a sentence with commas you must have both an opening and a closing comma just as you would use opening and closing brackets. A very good way of checking to see if you have used the commas correctly is to imagine replacing them with brackets:

Dr Karloff braced himself and, cursing Carter, jumped from the open door of the cargo plane.

Dr Karloff braced himself and (cursing Carter) jumped from the open door of the cargo plane.

The Dean, Dr Moon, was arrested for drink-driving outside Saltdean Lido.

The Dean (Dr Moon) was arrested for drink-driving outside Saltdean Lido.

E.g., i.e., viz., etc.

We use a comma before and a comma or a colon after words or phrases like:

e.g., for example, i.e., that is, and viz, to put them in parenthesis:
When served, fried landfish often tastes better with the addition of seasoning, for example, salt or pepper.

Commas and adjectives
Do not put a comma between the last adjective and the noun:

Dr Karloff held up the bright, sparkling, iridescent gem-stone and sighed with satisfaction.

If the adjectives are closely associated forming a kind of compound adjective, the commas are left out, for example, an air cooled rotary engine.

Commas and dates

In British English commas are not put around the year:

July 18 1960

in American English they are:

July 18, 1960

b) The colon and the semi-colon

The colon (:)
We use the colon between sentences when there is a movement forward in the ideas: 

The chemist and physicist Michael Faraday started work as a laboratory assistant to Sir Humphrey Davey in 1813. In 1821 he began experimenting on electromagnetism, and in 1833 succeeded Davey as professor of Chemistry at the Royal Institution: he went on to become one of the foremost scientists of his day.

We use the colon to introduce examples and quotations:

... many attempts have been made to overcome this problem, for example, Karloff maintains:

The normal phases of catabolism, in which complex substances are decomposed into simple ones, and anabolism, in which complex substances are built up from simple ones, have been bypassed by the technique of Moog Genesis...

We can also use a colon instead of a comma after phrases like: e.g., for example, i.e., and viz.:
There are two things the Big Bopper likes, viz.: Chantilly lace, and a pretty face.

We use the colon before lists of things, for example:

I went to the market and I bought: a fat hen, a haddock, an overcoat, and a lithograph of the Eiffel Tower.

Using a colon rather than a comma makes it more list-like. When you are introducing your list with phrases such as the following, namely, always use a colon:

I went to market and I bought the following: a fat hen, a haddock, an overcoat, and a lithograph of the Eiffel Tower.

We also use the colon before a quotation:

Dr Cohen maintains that:

A free radical acts like a drunk in a midnight choir and has often been compared to a bird on a wire...

and before a summary of a situation:

The conditions under which I was working changed considerably: my collaborator Clarissa had left to take up a career on the stage, my supervisor Dr Karloff had disappeared (he is rumoured to be in Amsterdam), and I was having severe doubts as to the point of my research.

The colon is also used between numbers in proportion, for example, 5:1, and can be used when writing times of the day, for example 21:30.

The semi-colon (;)
You can use semi-colons to separate clauses which are of more or less equal importance:

Dr Karloff has disappeared; he was last seen catching a taxi to Heathrow airport.

Semi-colons are not normally used with conjunctions, but can be if you want a greater break than a comma would provide.

Dr Karloff has disappeared; and he was last seen catching a taxi to Heathrow airport.
When using a semi-colon in this way you have to make sure that each clause could stand as an independent sentence. You could not write:

*Dr Karloff has disappeared; and was last seen catching a taxi to Heathrow airport.

was last seen catching a taxi to Heathrow airport does not work on its own as a possible sentence as it does not have a subject—use a comma. Generally, we use semi-colons with conjunctions that co-ordinate (give equal importance to) and, or, but, however, etc. but not with conjunctions that sub-ordinate (give a lesser importance to) as, since, because, etc.


We can also use semi-colons instead of commas to separate a series of phrases. They are especially useful when the phrases themselves contain commas:

The University of West Cheam has recently been involved in a series of unfortunate scandals; the arrest of Dr Karloff on drugs and pornography charges; the resignation of Vice-Dean Martin over the Tokyo Affair; the fabrication of student numbers, which only came to light last week, in the Para-Psychology Department; and the failure to keep up mortgage re-payments for the Salisbury Avenue site.

c) The full stop
The full stop (period if you use American English) is used at the end of a sentence. We can also use the full stop when we are laying out lists in the following style:

Common mistakes:

*Forgetting to include citations in the references. 

*Using incorrect journal abbreviations.

*Inconsistency of style.

*Mis-spelling authors names.

*Getting the page numbers wrong.

You do not have to use full stops and could write:

Common mistakes:

Forgetting to include citations in the references

Using incorrect journal abbreviations

Inconsistency of style

Mis-spelling authors names

Getting the page numbers wrong

But, in British English, we should not use them like this:

*Dr Karloff’s text included many common mistakes: Forgetting to include citations in the references. Using incorrect journal abbreviations. Inconsistency of style. Mis-spelling authors names.

Getting the page numbers wrong.

Here, semi-colons or commas should be used.

The full stop in abbreviations and contractions

In contractions, when we are using simply the first and last letter of the word, full-stops are not commonly used: Mr, Mrs and Dr for Mister, Mistress and Doctor. Note that Ms is a recent invention and is not an abbreviation for any word and so should not have a full stop after it.

In abbreviations, where we are using just the beginning of the word, it is more common to use the full stop: Prof, etc., and et al. for Professor, et cetera, and et alia.

Increasingly full stops are being abandoned altogether in abbreviations and contractions, particularly the more common ones: TV, UK, MI5, BBC, 1000 BC, 11 am, 45 rpm, 3500 kwh, MSc, PhD, DPhil. However, use a full stop if there is a possibility of ambiguity. Convention still dictates the use of full stops with some common abbreviations such as e.g. (exempli gratia, for example), i.e. (id est, that is), etc. (et cetera, and so forth), et al. (et alii, and others), or viz. (videlicet, namely). Do not use full stops with the abbreviations of SI units.

Whether you choose to use full stops or not in abbreviations, make sure you are consistent. If you are not sure whether or not to use a full stop, err on the side of caution and use one. We came across one student who had not put a full stop after et al., and was made, by a particularly pedantic examiner, to correct his thesis by putting a full stop after every al in the text.

If you are using a question mark after an abbreviation with a full stop, put the question mark after the full stop, Have you got a Ph.D.? This also holds for exclamation marks, He has not put a full stop at the end of et at.!

Do not use exclamation marks in your text!

If your sentence ends in an abbreviation with a full stop do not put another full stop in, simply end the sentence with the abbreviating full stop.

If you are using an abbreviation in your text, it is common practice to write the word in full the first time it is used with the abbreviation in brackets after it, and then to simply use the abbreviation--do not do this with standard abbreviations such as SI units, chemical symbols, etc.
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Fig. 14.3 A quiet night at the rat and maze.
Full stops in titles and headings

Do not use a full stop at the end of a heading or title.

d) Brackets

In a written text (we are not going to consider their use in equations and formulae) rounded brackets (or parentheses) are used (like a pair of commas) to separate a number, word, phrase, or clause from the main sentence. Use them if you are making numbered points in your text:

We will look at (1) the behaviour of the purple mollusc before treatment, (2) the behaviour of the purple mollusc during treatment, (3) the behaviour of the purple mollusc after treatment.

You can also use them when you want the effect to be more of an aside than a pair of commas produce:

The University of West Cheam (formerly West Cheam Technical College) has been closed down temporarily.
Do not let a pair of brackets disturb the normal punctuation of the sentence.
In the following sentence we need the final full stop:

 
The data from the final experiment were inconsistent (see Fig. 6).

We normally only use brackets around short phrases, clauses or sentences we are slipping into a main sentence. Although it is possible to use brackets around whole sentences or groups of sentences it looks very unwieldy. (If you do bracket an entire sentence, the full stop goes inside the brackets, like this.) Square brackets [] are used mainly with quotations either to fill in some missing information:

The [principal] aim of the Genetic Engineering Department is to produce blue dandelions.

or with sic to indicate a mistake in the quotation:

We normally put soddurn [sic] chloride and vinegar, ascetic [sic] acid, on our fish and chips.

Curly (or hooked) brackets {} can come in handy if you are using brackets within brackets as it were, {[]}, but if your text is getting that complicated you are using too many brackets and should think about re-writing your sentence. Angle brackets <> are not normally used in written text.

e) Dashes and hyphens

There are two sorts of dashes: m-dashes and n-dashes. The m-dash (the width of an in) is slightly longer than the n-dash (the width of an n). Hyphens are slightly shorter then n-dashes-—all very confusing. You will be able to produce the different marks by playing around with your keyboard. On our keyboard a hyphen is produced by pressing the hyphen key -, an n-dash is produced by pressing the option and the hyphen key together —, and an m-dash is produced by pressing the shift, option and hyphen key together —. Do not put spaces between a hyphen and the words it joins. Opinion is divided as to whether or not to put spaces between an m- or n- dash and the words it separates—use whichever convention you feel most comfortable with.

The m-dash

The m-dash can be used to insert extra information into a sentence in the same way as commas and brackets:

The University of West Cheam—formerly West Cheam Technical

College—has been closed temporarily.

The data from the final experiment were inconsistent—see Fig. 6.

You can use an m-dash like a comma before an afterthought—the effect is more abrupt and immediate:

Multiplying by 5 brings us to the answer—at a price.
You can also use it like a colon:

The conditions under which I was working changed Considerably –my collaborator Clarissa had left to take up a career on the stage, my supervisor Dr Karloff had disappeared (he is rumoured to be in Amsterdam), and I was having severe doubts as to the point of my research.

In this example we have used brackets rather than dashes to separate he is rumoured to be in Amsterdam from the sentence, as further use of dashes would be confusing.


Apart from after a question mark or exclamation marks never use dashes or hyphens next to another punctuation mark. Dashes are not an all-purpose substitute for other punctuation marks. They can liven up your text but do not be tempted to overuse them or your text will look like Morse code.

The n-dash

You use the n-dash to indicate a span of space or time, and page numbers:


The London-Brighton road.


1972-1985


pp3-17

The hyphen

Like the comma, the hyphen is a small and often misused punctuation mark. Hyphens are used to join two words together to make a new word, for example, common-sense Whether or not words are hyphenated depends on the stage they have reached in their evolution. With fairly recent pairings we tend to write them as two separate words. When they have become reasonably accepted, they progress to being hyphenated. Once they have become generally accepted we write them as one word, for example, handkerchief. Although they have been around for a long time, a few words like common sense / commonsense / common-sense and good bye / goodbye /good-bye still have not settled down into one standard form or another. If you are not sure about a word, be guided by your spell-checker (and dictionary), which will at least be consistent. There are certain times we always use hyphens:

       With pure prefixes:

Ex-President, Vice-Dean, Sub-Postmaster

With proper names:

anti-French, un-American, pre-Christian

With suffixes to single capital initials, symbols, Greek letters, etc.:

X-ray, β-ray

To avoid double ‘i’s, ‘o’s and triple consonants:

anti-intellectual, bell-like, co-operative

With written numbers:

thirty-five, eighty-seven, three-quarters, five-thousand and

twenty-nine

With a series of hyphenated words you can use your hyphens like this:

We used the three-, six-, and nine-second fuses

Always use hyphens when there is any danger of ambiguity:


re-cover, recover, re-creation, recreation, un-ionised, unionised.

When you are using compound adjectives you must use hyphens:


Little-used apparatus is a waste of space

means the apparatus is not used often.
Little used apparatus is a waste of space
means the apparatus is little and used. Take care that you hyphenate all the words you need to:
The anti-animal experiments lobby are picketing the Body Shop factory
is rather different from:

The anti-animal-experiments lobby are picketing the Biology Department
Hyphens can also be used to link two parts of a word split at the end of a line but it is best to avoid this as it can be confusing and looks bitty.

f) Apostrophes and inverted commas

The apostrophe

Apostrophes indicate possession, for example, Vishal’s ice bucket and abbreviations, for example, He’s drunk.


With names ending in s, it is best to add ‘s, for example, Mr Jones’s coat, but with classical names, for example, Socrates, it is often omitted, Socrates’ cat. With plurals ending in s, for example, thermometers, you just write thermometers’, for example, the thermometers’ casings. Where we have more than one noun, only use the apostrophe with the last noun, Michael and

Sue’s wedding.


Apostrophes can also be used for abbreviations of plurals and numbers, MSc’s, MP’s, I went to Tanzania in ‘98. Apostrophes are also used in abbreviated words and phrases, for example, don’t doesn’t, haven’t. Do not use these abbreviations in your paper. A problem, which crops up surprisingly often, is the confusion of its and it’s. Its is the possessive. It’s is an abbreviation of it is—do not, of course, abbreviate it is to it’s in your text. It is very easy to slip apostrophes in by mistake and your spell-checker might not catch them, so run special checks for them using your ‘FIND’ command.

Inverted commas
The conventions about inverted commas, or quotation marks, vary from publisher to publisher, we shall follow the conventions of the Oxford University Press. Whatever set of conventions you choose to follow, make sure you are consistent. One point all publishers would agree on is that inverted commas are used to indicate quotes, written or spoken, to show what a person’s actual words were. For example, if the actual words spoken were “I am on the verge of a breakthrough”.


*The speaker said he ‘was on the verge of a breakthrough’.

is wrong. Write:


The speaker said he was ‘on the verge of a breakthrough’.

or:


The speaker said ‘I am on the verge of a breakthrough’.

Inverted commas are also used to indicate colloquial or technical expressions, ‘yo dude’, ‘goo-gum oscillator’. Inverted commas can also be used when quoting the title of a publication:

Bowie, D. 1994. A logic based calculus of everyday objects. In ‘Abducting Logic’ 0. Osborne (ed) (Hendrix and Joplin, Southampton) pp 3—10.

We do not use them for well-known books and publications such as the Bible, Koran, Talmud, Magna Carta, etc.

If you are using a short quote in your main text you can simply put it in inverted commas. It is best to indent longer quotes—do not use inverted commas with indented quotes.

In British English, if you have a quotation within a quotation use single inverted commas first, and then double inverted commas for the second quotation. If you have another quotation within your second use single inverted commas again, etc. In American English, the convention is reversed. In British English, if the quote comes at the end of a sentence, the full stop is put outside the inverted commas, in American English it is put inside. If a punctuation mark is part of the quotation keep it inside the inverted commas, and if the quotation ends in a full stop, question mark, or exclamation mark, you do not need to use another full stop after the inverted comma to end your sentence.

g) The slash

This is sometimes called a solidus I. It used to mean per, as in km/h. It should not be used to join two words together. Use a hyphen to do this. Do not write the solidus more than once in any notation.

h) The question mark

Keep these for direct questions:

What is the secret of life?

With an indirect questions you do not use them:

In this chapter we will ask what the secret of life is.

i) The exclamation mark

Over a pint of Bacardi in the pub, you might well say:

Wow! I’ve discovered a new atom!

There really should not be any place in your dissertation or thesis for exclamation marks (other than as symbols in equations).

j) Accents

With words borrowed from other languages we keep whatever accents they came with, for example, précis, pièce de résistance, papier-mâché, façade.

Keep the accents on people’s names when referencing them. It is worth playing around with your keyboard to find out how to get the different accents.

Although you will probably not be using it yourself; you might come across something called a dieresis, which is like the German umlaut ¨. It is used to clarify the pronunciation, for example, naïve, coöperation and zoölogy, rather than naive, co-operation and zoology.

Common mistakes with Punctuation

a) Fragments

Fragments are constructions like this:

*The blue mouse ate the cheese. Which had been left out by the kindly Mrs Karloff.

Which had been left out by the kindly Mrs Karloff is not a sentence in its own right. The sentence should read:

The blue mouse ate the cheese which had been left out by the kindly Mrs Karloff.

or,

The blue mouse ate the cheese, which had been left out by the kindly Mrs Kanloff.

b) Comma splices

Comma-splices are constructions like this:

*The yellow mouse ate the blue cheese, it did not like the cheese much.

You cannot simply join two sentences with a comma. Either, use a full stop:

The yellow mouse ate the blue cheese. It did not like the cheese much.

or a conjunction, such as and, with or without a comma:

The yellow mouse ate the blue cheese and it did not like the cheese much.

c) Run-on sentences

A run-on sentence is something like this:

The yellow mouse ate the blue cheese it did not like the cheese much.

Here we have put what should be two sentences into one with no punctuation at all. Again we should use a full stop:

The yellow mouse ate the blue cheese. It did not like the cheese much.

or a conjunction, with or without a comma.

The yellow mouse ate the blue cheese and it did not like the cheese much.

Capitalisation

The conventions about capitalisation can be contradictory and illogical. Write I when writing about yourself, and start sentences and proper names (John, Paris, Venezuela, Sir John Bodkin, etc.) with a capital letter. Also capitalise the following:

a) Names of races, nationalities, languages, religions, and belief systems

They are Asian. She is Thai. They are Colombian. He speaks Serbo-Croat. My family are Buddhist.

With regards to race and belief systems, some people hold that you should not capitalise white or atheist. If you happen to be writing about any kinds of deity in your paper you can talk about a god, but God will normally be taken to mean the god of the Judeo-Christian religion; there is also the convention of referring to God as He, and occasionally as She.

b) Organisations, departments, jobs and areas of work or study

These are normally capitalised when they are used as proper names, the Army, the Labour Party, the Archbishop of York, Your Honour, His Excellency the Jordanian Ambassador, etc.:

Bella Lugosi is Vice-Dean of Para-Psychology at the University of West Cheam. He is in a meeting the other vice-deans to discuss the recent crisis.

Mr Ant is Head of Biochemistry at the University of West Cheam.

He also teaches music and technical drawing.

so, for example, you would work in a chemistry department, but work in the Chemistry Department.

c) Names of periods of time and historical events

These should be capitalised if they are used as proper names, for example:

Stone Age, Middle Ages, First World War.

d) Adjectives and nouns derived from names

These are capitalised if the connection to the name is still felt to be relevant:
Newtonian physics

Roman Empire

Aristotelian philosophy

However, we do not capitalise if the connection is felt to be remote:

french windows

arabic script

herculean effort

wellington boot

sandwich

jersey

boycott

or if it is an activity associated with a name:

galvanise

pasteurise

We do not capitalise scientific terms derived from names:

kelvin

joule

newton.

henry

Although we do capitalise the unit abbreviation SI Units

(Système International d’Unités) and Their Multiples).

e) Titles of books and papers

There is a strong convention to capitalise the first letter of the words in titles, except for pronouns, prepositions and conjunctions unless they start the title:

The Adventures of Don Quixote

Remember that abbreviations which are not normally capitalised should never be capitalised in a title or heading; for example, the title *‘RATE OF HZ INCREASE’ is incorrect. It should read ‘RATE OF Hz INCREASE’, but titles are better not completely capitalised at all.

f) Sections of text

It is conventional to capitalise, for example, Introduction when you are using it to refer to your introduction. Do not capitalise it when referring to introductions in general. Similarly, write Table 4, or Figure 5, but talk about figures and tables in general.

Beware of overusing capitals, particularly of CAPITALISING WHOLE WORDS OR SENTENCES. It is hard on the eyes and lacks subtlety. It is a bit like shouting at someone to try and get them to see your point of view—normally, you just irritate them. Look at any printed book and you will see that professional typesetters use capitals very sparingly.

Italics

Italics can be used as an alternative to inverted commas to highlight words in a text. Italics are also used to indicate words taken from other languages:

a priori

in vitro

in vivo

in silico

We do not normally italicise ‘foreign’ words that are in common usage, for example, et cetera, and you would not write *‘My friends are on holiday in Ibiza.’

Italics can also be used as an alternative to inverted commas for titles in your references:

Bowie, D. 1994. A logic based calculus of everyday objects. In Abducting Logic. Editor O. Osborne (Hendrix and Joplin, Southampton) pp 3—10.

Common Mistakes

Using the wrong tense.

Mixing tenses.

Misuse of words.

Vagueness.

Bad punctuation.
Key Points

Be clear, concise, and accurate.

Make sure what you write makes sense.

Make sure what you write means what you want it to.
Adapted From: Enjoy Writing your Science Thesis or dissertation by Holtom & Fisher – Imperial College Press (1999).


